THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jun 07 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Court Case No.: 2020-001262

The State, Respondent,

v.

Joseph Campbell Williams, II, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

J. Falkner Wilkes (SC Bar #12893)
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
jfalcknerwilkes@gmail.com
Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the court commit reversible error in limiting evidence of prior false accusations by complainant against persons other than the defendant?
2. Did the court commit reversible error in excluding evidence as to the Petitioner's state of mind?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was indicted by the grand jury in Pickens County for the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, first degree (15-GS-39-1030), and criminal sexual conduct with a minor, second degree (17-GS-39-0700). The Petitioner was tried by jury August 31st through September 1, 2017, the Honorable Perry H. Gravely presiding. Scott Dover, Esq., represented the Applicant at trial. Shannon Odom, Assistant Solicitor, represented the State. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges and the Petitioner was sentenced to 30 years on the CSC, first degree and 10 years consecutive on the CSC, second degree. The Petitioner was remitted to the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections. A timely notice of appeal was filed. The appeal was perfected and the court of appeals issued a per curiam opinion July 1, 2020 affirming the conviction. A timely petition for rehearing was filed which was denied. A timely petition for a writ of certiorari was filed which this Court granted May 7, 2021. This brief follows. Alan Wilson, Attorney General, Joshua A. Edwards, Assistant Attorney General, and Walter Wilkins, Solicitor represent the State on appeal. J. Falkner Wilkes represents the Petitioner on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 30, 2013, the prosecutrix made a complaint to the Pickens County Sheriff's Office alleging sexual abuse by the Petitioner when she was six or seven years old. R. p. 63. She reported this for the first time in 2013, when she was 17 years old. R. p. 108. She was 21 at the time of trial. R. p. 89. The prosecutrix testified that when she was six years old she began living on Lewis Street with her mother and the Petitioner, her step father. R. p. 89; 97. She claimed that when she was seven years old and living at Jane Lane the Petitioner rubbed on her "close to her privates". R. p. 92. She testified to oral sex occurring just before she went to live at her grandparents for a while on Railroad Street. R. p. 94. The prosecutrix testified that later the Petitioner and her mom moved to High Top Drive where the "majority of everything that he done to me happened at." 94. She was ten when they initially moved to High Top. R. p. 100. The prosecutrix testified that the last abuse is occurred just before she turned thirteen. R. p. 106.

The defense produced Facebook postings showing that just hours prior to making allegations of sexual abuse against the Petitioner the prosecutrix was upset with her mother and posted threats directed at them: "I think its funny people wanna say they beat someones ass when in reality they the ones who got beat. Pussy ass niggas wanna run wont face a man but wanna talk shit when everybodys gone. world war 3 is about to begin and everybody gonna wish they never fucked with me ! that anit a threat, that's a promise!" R. p. 154. The prosecutrix admitted posting the threats just hours prior to making the allegations against the Petitioner that resulted in his arrest and prosecution in this case. R. p. 154-158. The defense also produced mental health/behavioral records where the prosecutrix had, over the course of years denied any sexual abuse, including specifically any abuse by the Petitioner. R. p. 149-153; 226-227.

Early in the trial there was a discussion as to the application of the rape shield statute. There was an agreement on rape shield statute that the defense would not get into any prior sexual habits of the prosecutrix. R. p. 36-41.

During the trial the defense attempted to establish a prior pattern of false sexual abuse allegations by the prosecutrix against people other than the Petitioner. R. p. 40. The state objected repeatedly claiming that such testimony should be excluded under the rape shield statute. The defense disclosed its intent to elicit testimony of prior false allegations of sexual abuse against two people other than the Petitioner. R. p. 74-76. State's argued that testimony about prior false allegations violated the rape shield statute. R. p. 77. There was a long discussion with the court ruling that the defense could not get into the details (falsity) of the prior sexual allegations against other people. R. p. 77-83.

The state offered testimony by its expert witness, Farmer, who had been one of the prosecutrix's mental health providers. R. p. 201-206. Farmer had the prosecutrix's mental health records to refer to during her testimony. R. p. 206-208. The solicitor elicited testimony from Farmer about the prosecutrix's mental/behavioral health treatment. R. p. 208. Farmer testified that the prosecutrix made a false report of abuse by her mom. R. p. 215-216. Farmer went on to also identify in the records where the prosecutrix also made allegations of sexual abuse against two people other than the defendant. R. p. 215-216. Unlike the abuse claim involving the victim's mother, Farmer did not volunteer that the two allegations of sexual abuse made against other people were also false.¹

¹Presumably, based on the court's earlier ruling, Farmer had been instructed not to disclose the details (falsity) of the victim's allegations of prior sexual abuse by persons other than the defendant.

On cross-examination the defense attempted to elicit testimony from Farmer, based on the medical records of the prosecutrix, that the two prior allegations of sexual assault were also found to be false. The state objected on the grounds of hearsay. R. p. 229. The court sustained the objection without stating a basis. R. p. 229.

The defense later attempted to offer testimony of the prior false allegations through the Petitioner's brother. When the brother attempted to testify that victim "had a troubled past and had already made false accusations..." the state objected. R. p. 297. The court again sustained without explanation. R. p. 297. Then the defense attempted to elicit testimony from the Petitioner's brother pertaining to the Petitioner being around the prosecutrix (presumably due to her prior false allegations against other men): "did your brother, what was he telling you about his relationship with..." R. p. 298. The state objected and the court again sustained as hearsay. R. p. 298.

When the Petitioner took the stand he testified that he would never be alone with the prosecutrix over the whole time he was married to the prosecutrix's mother. R. p. 303. When the Petitioner attempted to explain why, the state objected and cut him off:

Q. Tell the jury why you would never leave yourself alone with this girl?

A. Because she'd made accusations against --.

R. p. 303.

The jury was sent out and argument ensued. The defense argued that the testimony was not offered for truth of the matter asserted. R. p. 303. Specifically the defense argued that the testimony proved the Petitioner's motive and intent as to why he wouldn't be alone with the

prosecutrix. R. p. 303. The state maintained that the testimony violated the rape shield statute. 304-308.

The defense requested to proffer the Applicant's testimony. R. p. 303-307. When the defense attempted to proffer the Petitioner's testimony the court immediately cut the Petitioner off:

The Court: I'll let you proffer.

Defense counsel: Mr. Williams, I am going to ask you some question on a proffer. Did you ever leave yourself alone with [the prosecutrix]?

Defendant: No, sir, I did not.

Defense counsel: Because I was fearful of her because of past --

The Court: Again, he can say "I was fearful of being accused of anything" but I don't think that he can say because of her previous allegations.

R. p. 307, l. 6-18.

After successfully preventing the testimony explaining that the Petitioner didn't want to be alone with the prosecutrix because she had made prior false allegations of sexual abuse against other people, the solicitor went on to argue to the jury how she didn't believe the defense witnesses. R. p. 351. That the defense witness testimony was absurd to her [the prosecutor]. R. p. 351. The solicitor went on to say "How crazy is this?..... went to such great lengths... just to make sure that her daughters never had a chance to be alone with him. This is preposterous." R. p. 362. The solicitor went on attacking the defense testimony that the Petitioner avoided ever being alone

with the prosecutrix: “How crazy is this? How illogical is this, that they want you to believe that they went to great lengths, to avoid sleep, just to make sure that her daughters never had a chance to be alone with him? This is preposterous.” R. p. 362, l. 18-23. Throughout closing argument the state continued to take an unfair advantage of having blocked the Petitioner’s ability to explain the basis for his avoidance of ever being alone with the prosecutrix:

Now, Mr. Dover said that the defendant would have been a fool to have put himself in that position. The defendant testified that 20 from the beginning he said that he wasn’t left alone with them. By putting -- by saying, you know, that he would have been a fool to have put himself in that position, that’s like a slap in the face to all the other step-dads out there. That is saying that no step-dad should ever be alone with a step-child because that’s an inherent risk. That is saying that when moms and dads get married that have prior children, that the family shouldn’t be blended. That you should try to have a good relationship. That you should push your child away. No. That makes no sense. And it makes no sense that mom would have gone to great lengths to keep the kids away from him like that.

R. p. 386, l. 17-397, l. 10.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF PRIOR FALSE ACCUSATIONS BY COMPLAINANT AGAINST PERSONS OTHER THAN THE DEFENDANT.

The defense in this case sought to introduce evidence of the prosecutrix's prior false allegations of sexual misconduct against persons other than the defendant. The state objected repeatedly raising the Rape Shield Statute.

In a prosecution for criminal sexual conduct or assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct, the admissibility of evidence of the victim's sexual conduct is controlled by S.C. Code Ann. 16-3-659.1 (1985). Unlike the federal rule which contains the standards and procedures governing the admissibility of such evidence, this rule merely references the statute. *See Note to Rule 412.* Rule 412, SCRE, provides: "In prosecutions for criminal sexual conduct or assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct, the admissibility of evidence concerning the victim's sexual conduct is subject to the limitations contained in S.C. Code Ann. 16-3-659.1 (1985)." South Carolina's Rape Shield statute provides in pertinent part: "Evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual conduct, opinion evidence of the victim's sexual conduct, and reputation evidence of the victim's sexual conduct is not admissible in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-615 and 16-3-652 to 16-3-656;..." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1. The testimony that the court excluded was not evidence of the victim's sexual conduct, but rather evidence of the prosecutrix's prior false allegations. The former is barred by Rule 412, the latter is not.

Rule 412 is designed only to preclude evidence of a complaining witness's prior sexual conduct. Evidence of prior false accusations of rape made by a complaining witness does not constitute "prior sexual conduct" for rape shield purposes. In presenting such evidence, a

defendant is not probing the complaining witness's sexual history. Rather, a defendant seeks to prove for impeachment purposes that the complaining witness has previously made false accusations of rape. Viewed in this light, such evidence is more properly understood as verbal conduct, not sexual conduct. To the extent a defendant offers evidence of prior false accusations of rape to impeach the credibility of the witness, its admission does not run afoul of the Rape Shield Rule. *See State v. Walton*, 715 N.E.2d 824, 826–27 (Ind. 1999).

Other jurisdictions are reasonably consistent in allowing evidence of prior false accusations for impeachment purposes.² Maine, Maryland, Missouri, New Mexico, Ohio, Tennessee, Vermont, and Wisconsin follow the federal rule and allow cross-examination concerning a prior false accusation that is probative of the witness's character for truthfulness, but do not allow the use of extrinsic evidence to contradict the witness's answer or to prove the character trait. *See, e.g., State v. Almurshidy*, 732 A.2d 280, 287 n. 4 (Me.1999); *State v. Cox*, 298 Md. 173, 468 A.2d 319, 323–24 (1983); *State v. Raines*, 118 S.W.3d 205, 211–14 (Mo.Ct.App.2003); *State v. Scott*, 113 N.M. 525, 828 P.2d 958, 962–63 (Ct.App.1984); *State v. Boggs*, 63 Ohio St.3d 418, 588 N.E.2d 813, 816–17 (1992); *State v. Wyrick*, 62 S.W.3d 751, 780–82 (Tenn.Crim.App.2001); *State v. Leggett*, 164 Vt. 599, 664 A.2d 271, 272 (1995); *State v. Olson*, 179 Wis.2d 715, 508 N.W.2d 616, 619–20 (Ct.App.1993), *reh'g denied*, 515 N.W.2d 715 (Wis.1994).

Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Idaho, New Hampshire, and Nevada also have evidence rules similar to the federal rule, but have relaxed those rules in sexual crime cases to allow the

²The following state-by-state analysis was made by the Supreme Court of New Jersey in *State v. Guenther*, 181 N.J. 129 (2004). Although somewhat dated, it remains relevant.

admission of extrinsic evidence of an accuser's prior false sexual crime allegation. See, e.g., Morgan v. State, 54 P.3d 332, 336 (Alaska Ct.App.2002); State v. Hutchinson, 141 Ariz. 583, 688 P.2d 209, 212–13 (Ct.App.1984) (*interpreting* State ex rel Pope v. Superior Court, 113 Ariz. 22, 545 P.2d 946, 953 (1976)); West v. State, 290 Ark. 329, 719 S.W.2d 684, 686–87 (1986), *reh'g denied*, 290 Ark. 329, 722 S.W.2d 284 (1987); State v. Schwartzmiller, 107 Idaho 89, 685 P.2d 830, 833 (1984); State v. Gordon, 146 N.H. 258, 770 A.2d 702, 704–05 (2001); Miller v. State, 105 Nev. 497, 779 P.2d 87, 89–90 (1989).

Massachusetts and Oregon, which like New Jersey follow the common law rule, have recognized a limited exception to allow cross-examination of an accuser who has made a prior false sexual crime allegation when the case involves a similar crime, but disallow extrinsic evidence. See, e.g., Commonwealth v. Bohannon, 376 Mass. 90, 378 N.E.2d 987, 991 (1978); State v. Driver, 192 Or.App. 395, 86 P.3d 53, 55–58 (2004). Kansas, Georgia, Indiana, Louisiana, and Virginia, which also follow the common law rule prohibiting specific conduct evidence relating to character, have suggested that the defendant's right to confrontation in a sexual crime case allows cross-examination of the accuser-witness and the admission of extrinsic evidence to prove the witness's prior false sexual crime accusation. See, e.g., State v. Barber, *supra*, 766 P.2d at 1290 (Kan.); Smith v. State, 259 Ga. 135, 377 S.E.2d 158, 160, *cert. denied*, 493 U.S. 825, 110 S.Ct. 88, 107 L.Ed.2d 53 (1989); Little v. State, 413 N.E.2d 639, 643–44 (Ind.Ct.App.1980); State v. Smith, 743 So.2d 199, 202 (La.1999); Clinebell v. Commonwealth, 235 Va. 319, 368 S.E.2d 263, 266 (1988).

Texas has embraced a case-by-case analysis to determine whether a defendant's right to confrontation requires relaxation of the bar on specific conduct evidence in all cases in which an

accuser has made a prior false criminal allegation—not just sexual crime cases. *See Lopez v. State*, 18 S.W.3d 220, 225 (Tex.Crim.App.2000) (declining "to create a *per se* exception to the Rule 608(b) for sexual offenses" because "[i]t makes no sense to say that certain factors will always be present in a case involving a sexual offense").

Some Federal Courts of Appeals that have addressed the use of a prior false accusation to undermine the credibility of an accuser-witness have determined that restrictions on the admissibility of extrinsic evidence do not violate the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation. *See, e.g., Boggs v. Collins*, 226 F.3d 728, 736–40 (6th Cir.2000), *cert. denied*, 532 U.S. 913, 121 S.Ct. 1245, 149 L.Ed.2d 152 (2001); *Hogan v. Hanks*, 97 F.3d 189, 191 (7th Cir.1996), *cert. denied*, 520 U.S. 1171, 117 S.Ct. 1439, 137 L.Ed.2d 546 (1997); *United States v. Bartlett*, 856 F.2d 1071, 1088–89 (8th Cir.1988).

Several jurisdictions have recognized that prior false accusations of sexual crimes by the accuser may be admissible for reasons unrelated to impeachment of general credibility—to prove the accuser's habit, state of mind, motive, or common scheme. *See, e.g., Peoples v. State*, 681 So.2d 236, 237–39 (Ala.1995) (habit); *People v. Hurlburt*, 166 Cal.App.2d 334, 333 P.2d 82, 87 (1958) (state of mind); *State v. Anderson*, 211 Mont. 272, 686 P.2d 193, 199, 201 (1984) (state of mind, motive, and bias). In the present case, given multiple prior false allegations, combined with other evidence in the victim's mental health records of a pattern of lying, the evidence could fall within the realm of habit, intent, or common scheme.

In determining that prior false allegations are admissible under Rule 412, other court's have considered and resolved any conflict with Rule 608. Rule 608 provides in part:

(b) Specific Instances of Conduct. Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, or (2) concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which character the witness being cross-examined has testified.

Rule 608 (b), SCRE.

In considering the apparent conflict other court's have held that "evidentiary constraints must sometimes yield to a defendant's right of cross-examination." Clinebell v. Commonwealth, 235 Va. 319, 368 S.E.2d 263, 266 (1988); *see also* Mengon v. State, 505 N.E.2d 788, 792 (Ind.1987) (holding that a party's right to cross-examination should not be unduly limited by the court). A defendant's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation requires that the defendant be afforded an opportunity to conduct effective cross-examination of State witnesses in order to test their believability. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315–18, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974); Timberlake v. State, 690 N.E.2d 243, 255 (Ind.1997), *cert. denied*, 525 U.S. 1073, 119 S.Ct. 808, 142 L.Ed.2d 668 (1999). "The right to cross-examine, as well as other forms of confrontation, 'ensure [sic] that evidence admitted against an accused is reliable and subject to the rigorous adversarial testing that is the norm of Anglo–American criminal proceedings.' " Tague v. Richards, 3 F.3d 1133, 1138 (7th Cir.1993) (*quoting* Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 846, 110 S.Ct. 3157, 111 L.Ed.2d 666 (1990)). Accordingly, the majority of jurisdictions that have considered the have held that the evidentiary rule preventing evidence of specific acts of untruthfulness must yield to the defendant's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation and right to

present a full defense.³ Finding both the reasoning and weight of this authority persuasive, the Indiana court held that evidence of prior false accusations of rape is admissible to attack the credibility of the accusing witness, notwithstanding the general exclusionary edict of Rule 608(b). *See State v. Walton*, 715 N.E.2d 824, 827 (Ind. 1999).

As a matter of first impression the South Carolina Supreme Court held that prior allegations by the victim against persons other than the defendant may be probative on the issue of credibility. *State v. Boiter*, 396 S.E.2d 364, 302 S.C. 381 (S.C., 1990). There the court noted that “other jurisdictions have held that such evidence is admissible only if the court makes a threshold determination that the prior accusation was false. *See Clinebell v. Com.*, 235 Va. 319, 368 S.E.2d 263 (1988); *Woods v. State*, 657 P.2d 180 (Okla.1983), *Commonwealth v. Bohannon*, 376 Mass. 90, 95, 378 N.E.2d 987, 991 (1978). Other Courts have also considered remoteness of the prior accusation. *See State v. LeCair, supra.*” *See State v. Boiter*, 396 S.E.2d 364, 302 S.C. 381 (S.C., 1990). Although apparently holding that the trial court must make some threshold determination that the prior accusation was false to allow such evidence, the *Boiter* Court did not articulate an applicable standard of proof when doing so.

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