RECEIVED

Jul 28 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001262

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH CAMPBELL WILLIAMS II,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

disclose the abuse, despite being willing to disclose other instances of abuse.

As discussed in the error preservation section above, Williams has failed to identify any ruling where the court improperly prevented him from introducing competent evidence proving Victim made false allegations of rape. As a result, he cannot demonstrate error in any specific ruling. But even if this Court finds the trial court erred, Williams did not suffer any prejudice. He was able to accomplish his stated purpose of showing Victim did not take advantage of prior opportunities to disclose Williams' abuse, despite being willing to disclose other instances of abuse. Accordingly, even if the trial court somehow erred, Williams suffered no prejudice. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) ("Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.").

Williams attacked Victim's credibility throughout trial, including during his cross-examination of Victim, his opening statement, and closing argument. But even apart from his attacks on her credibility, Williams accomplished his stated purpose in inquiring into Victim's history of counseling for alleged abuse: that Victim had the opportunity to disclose Williams' abuse when she was undergoing counseling sessions, discussed allegations against others, but did not report abuse by Williams. According to defense counsel's own representations to the court, this was his reason for inquiring into past allegations. (R.p.80). As discussed above, substantial evidence was presented (through Victim and her counselor) showing unequivocally that Victim had opportunities to disclose Williams' abuse while undergoing counseling, discussed other instances of abuse, but Victim did not

disclose Williams' abuse at that time. The issue of Victim's alleged prior allegations was constantly before the jury. Williams accomplished his stated purpose. He should not be heard to complain about rulings he never requested from the trial court, and from which he suffered no prejudice. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court correctly excluded minimally probative, highly prejudicial hearsay testimony concerning what Williams was told about Victim's purported prior allegations of abuse.

In a closely related argument, Williams next claims the trial court erred by excluding testimony that Williams refused to be alone with Victim because he was told she had made false allegations of sexual abuse against others. His brief appears to allege the trial court improperly excluded evidence by his wife and brother to the effect that Williams told them he refused to be alone with Victim because she had made false allegations against others. Brief of Petitioner at 20. This argument is not preserved for review because Williams does not identify a specific ruling excluding evidence offered by his wife and brother. The issue is waived. Even if preserved, the argument fails. The only adverse ruling related to Williams' wife or brother is found on page 298 of the record; this testimony was properly excluded as hearsay.

If this Court interprets Williams' argument to allege the trial court improperly prevented **him** from offering testimony (and this Court finds that argument preserved), the argument is meritless. Williams' testimony concerning what he heard about Victim's purported prior allegations was rightly excluded

because it was inadmissible hearsay and carried a substantial danger of unfair prejudice. There was no evidence presented that Williams witnessed Victim make allegations of abuse against others. His statements of belief in that fact presumably rested on the statements of another, presumably Victim's mother. Statements of memory or belief, or a declarant's reasons for experiencing a particular state of mind, are not admissible to prove a declarant's state of mind. Furthermore, Williams had already conceded that evidence of prior false allegations was inadmissible and did not attempt to prove the falsity of the purported accusations, as discussed in the previous section. The Court was acting on its prior rulings and defense counsel's own concessions when it excluded the testimony. Finally, Williams was allowed to give substantially the same testimony, thereby accomplishing his stated purpose of showing he refused to be alone with Victim. He suffered no prejudice. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014).

B. Error preservation.

Williams' argument is not preserved for review because it is not stated with sufficient particularity to allow Respondent and this Court to ascertain the argument. Williams' issue statement alleges the trial court refused "to allow

witnesses to offer testimony to explain [his] state of mind." Brief of Petitioner at 18. While Williams does not clearly identify which witnesses were improperly prevented from testifying, his argument refers to testimony from his wife and brother relating to Williams' refusal to be alone with Victim. Brief of Petitioner at 18 and 20. Williams asserts "[t]estimony by Petitioner's wife and brother relating to Petitioner's knowledge of the prior false allegations the defense sought to offer explained the Petitioner's state of mind as being fearful of being alone with the prosecutrix. It was therefore not excludable as hearsay." Brief of Petitioner at 20. However, Williams never cites to the record to identify a specific ruling excluding testimony from his wife or brother. The trial court did not exclude any such testimony from his wife, but did exclude testimony from his brother regarding what Williams told him about his "relationship" with Victim. (R.p.298). Regardless, Williams has waived the issue by failing to state it with sufficient particularity to allow Respondent and this Court to ascertain his argument. See Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Every ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to grope in the dark to ascertain the precise point at issue.").

If this Court interprets Williams' argument to allege the trial court erred by preventing **him** from testifying explicitly that he refused to be alone with Victim because he knew she made prior false allegations against others (as the Court of Appeals apparently did), the argument is likewise unpreserved for review because it

is not stated in his issue statement. Rule 208(B), SCACR ("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal."); State v. Culbreath, 377 S.C. 326, 332, 659 S.E.2d 268, 271 (Ct. App. 2008) ("In order for an issue to be properly presented for appeal, the appellant's brief must set forth the issue in the statement of issues on appeal."). While Williams does cite to the trial court's exclusion of a portion of Williams' testimony (found at R.p.306–08) as one example of the trial court's "evidentiary rulings at various points throughout the trial" in which the court "failed to state clearly the basis for excluding any mention of the prior false allegations," he does not clearly argue that this ruling is the foundation of his argument. Williams' issue statement cites the trial court refusal to allow "witnesses" to offer testimony about Williams' state of mind. While Williams could feasibly be understood to be one of the "witnesses" referred to, the phrasing of the issue statement suggests the basis for his argument is testimony from witnesses other than himself.

Because Williams has not clearly stated the basis for his argument, this Court should deem the issue abandoned. Respondent and this Court should not have to "grope in the dark" to ascertain Williams' allegations of error. See Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Every ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to grope in the dark to ascertain the precise point at issue.").

Even if this Court finds Williams did not waive the argument, it is nonetheless unpreserved because it is a different argument than he made at trial. At trial, he sought to justify admission of his own statement as showing his "motive and intent." (R.p.304). There is no "motive" or "intent" exception to the hearsay rule. Likewise, he never argued the evidence fit within the "statement for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment" exception. Because he did not make these arguments at trial, they are not preserved for review. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (objection must be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve an appeal). This Court should affirm.

C. Discussion.

a. The trial court correctly excluded hearsay testimony from Williams' brother regarding Williams' stated reasons for refusing to be alone with Victim.

If this Court decides Williams has sufficiently alleged error in the exclusion of his brother's testimony regarding what Williams told him "about his relationship" with Victim, the Court should reject the argument. The brother's testimony was correctly excluded as hearsay with little probative value and a substantial danger of unfair prejudice. (R.p.298). Williams' brother had already improperly testified that Victim made prior "false allegations," testimony the trial court correctly struck as hearsay. (R.p.297). Williams' statements to his brother about "his relationship" with Victim were part of an out-of-court narrative that took place during an unspecified conversation. Defense counsel's question about what Williams told his brother about his relationship with Victim was an improper attempt to elicit

hearsay testimony. Rule 801(c), SCRE ("Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.").

Furthermore, Williams' purported reasons for refusing to be alone with Victim during his conversations with his brother had no probative value. What mattered was his brother's corroboration of Williams' story that he refused to ever be alone with Victim. This was Williams' purpose in offering the testimony, and he was allowed to achieve his purpose through his brother's testimony that Victim and Williams never had an opportunity to be alone together. (R.p.299). Williams' attempts to admit evidence of Victim's alleged prior allegations through the back door were not probative and were properly thwarted by the trial court.

The specific content of Williams' statements to his brother were completely unnecessary to prove his point: that he did not have the opportunity to molest Victim because he was never alone with her. For this reason, the exclusion of Williams' brother's testimony about what Williams told him about his relationship with Victim had low probative value and did not affect the result of trial. Accordingly, Williams suffered no prejudice from its exclusion. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) ("Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial."). This Court should affirm.

b. The trial court correctly excluded Williams' hearsay testimony relating to what he heard about Victim's purported prior allegations.

If this Court decides Williams properly alleges the trial court erred by excluding his own testimony and decides to consider the merits of the argument, it should reject the argument because the trial court correctly limited Williams' testimony to exclude improper hearsay evidence concerning what Williams heard about Victim's alleged prior allegations against others. Additionally, specific evidence concerning the substance of the alleged accusations had low probative value and carried the danger of unfair prejudice. Furthermore, Williams had already conceded evidence about Victim's alleged prior allegations was inadmissible and was able to elicit substantially the same testimony. He suffered no prejudice from the court's ruling that properly limited his testimony to exclude hearsay evidence. This Court should affirm.

As discussed at length in the first argument section, Williams conceded at the outset of trial that he could not properly introduce evidence concerning Victim's alleged prior accusations of abuse against others. (R.p.78). Yet during the presentation of his case, he backtracked on this view and attempted to introduce precisely this type of evidence. But rather than admit it properly through competent non-hearsay testimony pursuant to Boiter, he attempted to sneak the evidence in through the back door as hearsay.

The trial court correctly recognized the testimony was hearsay. (R.p.306). Williams never claimed to have personal knowledge of the facts underlying Victim's alleged prior allegations. Accordingly, he was merely repeating the assertions of others. See Rule 801, SCRE (providing "hearsay" is a statement, other than one

made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted). See also Vanover v. State, 433 S.C. 31, 40, 856 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2021), reh'g denied (Apr. 5, 2021) (explaining PCR applicant's testimony about purported prior false allegations by victim was hearsay because there was "no first-hand account of Daughter's accusation").

Williams attempts to justify the admission of hearsay evidence by asserting that it showed his "state of mind," presumably referencing Rule 803, SCRE, which provides that a "statement of the declarant's then existing state of mind" may be admissible despite the rule against hearsay. Rule 803(3), SCRE (emphasis added). This argument is not preserved because Williams did not make it to the trial court. Even if preserved, the argument is meritless. The "state of mind" exception only applies to a declarant's state of mind. Williams was not the declarant of the Victim's purported prior allegations. There was no evidence presented that Williams personally witnessed or had any firsthand knowledge of Victim's purported allegations against the two unnamed individuals. Rather, he was the mere recipient of this knowledge from others. Accordingly, the testimony was hearsay.

Furthermore, the "state of mind" exception allows testimony concerning the emotions or sensations the declarant is feeling when the statement is made. It does not allow the witness to repeat the declarant's reason for experiencing the state of mind. See State v. Tennant, 394 S.C. 5, 16, 714 S.E.2d 297, 302–03 (2011) (citing United States v. Cohen, 631 F.2d 1223, 1225 (5th Cir.1980) and explaining "the

state-of-mind exception does not permit the witness to relate any of the declarant's statements as to why he held the particular state of mind, or what he might have believed that would have induced the state of mind. **If the reservation in the text of the rule is to have any effect, it must be understood to narrowly limit those admissible statements to declarations of condition—'I'm scared'—and not belief—'I'm scared because [someone] threatened me'.**) The rule plainly states it does not allow for admission of "a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed" Rule 803(3), SCRE. Williams' interpretation of the rule would allow unlimited hearsay as long as the underlying fact or statement had some purported effect on the declarant. This would eviscerate the rule against hearsay. See State v. Garcia, 334 S.C. 71, 76, 512 S.E.2d 507, 509 (1999) ("The purpose of this exclusion is 'to avoid the virtual destruction of the hearsay rule which would otherwise result from allowing state of mind, provable by a hearsay statement, to serve as a **basis for an inference of the happening of the event which produced the state of mind.**'") (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial judge did not abuse its discretion by excluding Williams' purported reasons for avoiding being alone with Victim.

Likewise, Williams' testimony did not fit within the hearsay exception for statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment. Rule 803(4), SCRE. As noted above, this argument is not preserved for review because it was not made to the trial court. (R.p.304–05). Even if preserved, the argument is meritless. Again, the "declarant" for hearsay purposes is whoever told Williams

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